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THE TRIAL or - . %
- ILLIAM DUNCAN,

Forthe WILFUL MURDER of

WILLIAM CHIVERS, Esq,
Oxn tfze-f24tb January, 1307.
o S L ) S

THE learned Counfel opened the cafe, by ftating that the
prifoner at the bar, was gardener to the deceafed, and that he
had been hired by him only ten days before. It appeared that
he had preconcerted this murder, as he was heard to make
repeated enquiries whether his mafter was gone into the .
garden, and on the day of the murder, he had repeated the
enquiry, and was told his mafter was gone into the garden,
he went into the garden, and {oon returned faying, ¢ I have
knocked my mafter down.”” A fervant ran into the garden,

and faw Mr. Chivers lying on his back. dead. The counfel
then proceeded to call witnefles to prove the murder.

Philip Groombridge, fworn.—1 was fervant to Mr. Chivers.
The prifoner had been 1n his {fervice 11 days, 1 {faw him alive a
quarter before twelve on Saturday, going down the gravel
walks, 10 minutes after I {faw the prifoner, who asked me if
Mr. Chivers was gone into the garden ? he followed arnd re-
turned in 10 minutes, faying, ¢ Oh! my dear Harry, my
mafter is down.”” 1 f{aid where? he then ponted down the
garden,l faw Mr. C.lying on his back, dead; [ faw two cuts,
one through the lower jaw, the other through the center ofthe
face ; the blood was on both fides, and had run npon the gra-
vel, 1 faw a fpade about three feet from Mr. C. bloody and
leaning againft a yew tree; the blood was frefh, 1 faw alfo a
Atick lying two or three yards from him. Mr. Chivers was in
lis eighty-fecond year. 1 kneeled down, and attempted to
‘raife him, but his head fell backwards; I then went fur-
ther, on, and faw Duncan walking about on a foot path
facing the houfe; I faid to him, ¢ you villian, you have mur-
~ dered my mafter.”” I had feen Duncan working with the
ipade about an hour before. I alarmed the neighbourhood,
and called a {urgeon. |
~ Mr. Buckland, surgeon, sworn.—I am a furgeon, and ex-
amined Mr. Chivers’s, wounds; he was bleeding copioufly,
one wound was through to the lower jaw bone, the other
about § inches long, through the center of the face. [ Have -
no doubt that the deceafed come by his dsath in confequence
_of thofe wounds. - o}/
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o WILLAIM DUNCAN.

William Whitman, [wern,—I am a buker at Batterfea,
I went to Mr. Chivers’s, where | faw the prifoner at the gate,
ftanding ftill, I afked what was the matfer? when | was told
by fome perfons prefent, that the gardeaer had killed his maf-
ter; lthen afked which was the prifoner, and how Lie came to
do this fad a&t ' he afked, is -he dead? Some perfon replied
yes, then he faid, I muft die forit. He faid Mr. Chivers told
him he did not know his bufinefs, and that he had {poiled his
-vines, and told him to leave the premifes directly, for he
fhould not work there,any more; when he faid to his maf-
ter, you old rafcal how came you to take me from my good place
and bring me toyours? The deccafed then fhook a cane over.
‘him feveral times, when he {tept back a few paces and took 2
fpade, [ afked him how he did it, he replied that he thruff it at
him, the fecond pufh ftruck him on the nofe, and down he fell 5
I afked him alfo how he could do this, when he anfwered that
he had it in his mind ever fince Wednefday at four o’clock
in the afternoon. S 7 s ﬁ

The Prifoner in defence, called feveral refpectable witnefles
to character, as being of a mild and humane difpofition, particu-
larly;an old lady in whofe fervice he had lived a long time,
He alfo faid in his defence, that he never held malice againit
Mr. Chivers, that he'had been digging and left his {pade to
give the green houfe a little air.  When he told Mr. Chivers
he had done digging, and afked him if he fhould not get to
the pruning of the trees 7 Mr. Chivers replied, ¢ no you (poil
trees, ’ and ftruck him feveral times with his cane, which he
- endeavoured to keep off with the {pade which flipped andftruck
him, and he fell. = Heé then went in, and teld them what had
happened and {urrendered himfelf up. | 3
. The Learned Judge, in addrefling the Jury, {aid that the
queftion for their confideration was, whetherthe deceafed
. had provoked the prifoner by menaces to commit the act, or
- whether he had acted from premeditated malice? In the for-
mer cafe the crime would be reduced to manflaaghter. The
- body of the evidence, on the part of the profecution, con-
fifled .in the declaration of the prifoner to witnefles, and he
was entitled to eqnal credit for the declaration in his defence.
The Jury would alfo weigh the charater of the prifoner,
which went to prove him a man of good difpofition; and
if they were of opinion that the deceafed had thook his cane
at the prifoner, they would deliver a verdiét of manflaughter.
- The Juryconfulted for about twenty minutes, and returned
.a verdi& of Guilty. He was ordered to. be executed on
Monday Morning. The prifoner 1s a tall handfome young
male. | '
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John Maycock and John Pope.

THE Common Serjeant opened the profecution by ftating
that it feldom came te the lot of perfons of his profeffion,
to lay before the courta cafe of more aggravated guilt than it
now fell to his lot to do ; it carried with it a double weight of

infamy, and along, and evident proof of the guilt of the pri-
foners. The deceased, hefaid, was {ixty-eight years of age,

living 1n a retired manner, in Crofs-ftreet, Horfleydown.
She was confidered as a little affeted in her intellets, and
from herreclufe and fingular manner of living, fhe drew upon
 her the infults of the boys living in the neighbourhood ; to
prevent this as much as poeflible, the kept the windows in the

front of her houfe thut by day and night. She was vifited by
few perfons, and kept no fervant. Her fifter some days before
the murder, went to {ee her to take her fome money which the

had received for her. I'his money fhe paid all in two pound
bank notes, which were new ones. Some time afterwards, the
went, but could gain no admittance; fhe then applied to a
man of the name of Garreit, toforce his way into the houfe,
which he did by pafling through the premifes of the Barley
Mow public houfe, the back ef which communicated with the
yard of Mrs. Pooley’s premifess He there faw laying on the
ground, .a brick, and fome pieces of bricks which had been
forced from the wall near the bolt of the window, fo that a
perfon might open it by putting his hand through the hole.
He then went in at the window, and entered the houfe, and
feund Mrs. Pooley laying upon her back dead, her pincuthion,
thimble, and pen-knife laying upon the ground near her. He
afterwards wentupftairs, faw the drawers had beenrifled ; they
then f{ent for a furgeon, who could not fay what was the
caufe of her death, as the was in a very putrid state, having
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been dead 11-days. The learned counfel then went inte &
very long detail of the plan formed by the prifoners of robbing
Mrse Pooley. They ipoke to a man of the name of Griffin,
to accompany them, faying, ¢ We can help you to a good
thing ;’’ he afked whom they were to rob, Maycock replied,
‘1t was an old woman in athut up houfe, who was worth hun-
dreds. Grz:ﬁ"in declined the propofal, which hnwever they
accomplifhed alone. The counfel {faid, he would not trefs-
pafs upon the patience of the court, but would proceed to call
the witnefles to eftablifh the fact, and he had no doubt the
jury would be under the neceflity of finding the prifoners
uilty.

. Sarah Pooley fworn.—Said the was fifter to the deceafed,
and lived at Pickle Herring Stairs.. . Her fifter lived alone ;
her window-fhutters ufed always to be fhut ; fhe faw her laft
on the 26th of July, when witnefs went to pay her fome
money....the fum was fix twe pound bank of England notes,
and left her at five o’clock on that evening. She knew the
Deceafed was hoarding up money, and never was without it.
Never faw her after that time....When fhe came again to the
houfe witnefs knocked, ‘but could not gain admittance ; fhe
then applied to a perfon of the name of Garrett to break
open the houfe, which he did.

Fohn. Magnell Garrett fworn.—1 was applied to on the
20th of Auguft to break open the houfe of Mrs, Pooley. 1
went through the Barley Mow, and got into the yard of Mus.
Pooley’s houfe; found the back door bolted, and fuw {ome
bricks, lying near the door, which appeared to have been
juft taken out. I forced open the window, went 1n, and
faw Mrs. Pooley in the wafh-houfe, lying on her back, her
left leg under her, and her right ftretched out; her clothes
were {mooth, but her pockets were turned infide out ; {fome
few trifles, fuch as’a pincufhion, &c. werelying on her
right {ide. I then went to the front doer, and let in Mr.
Humphries and my wife, The middle door was open, and
the key-hole cut. We then went up ftairs, and faw the
drawers open, drawn out, and {tripped of their contents;
obferved the bed much rumpled, and the boxes rifled.

Thomas Brickendon, Surgeon, fworn.——1 examined the
body of the deceafed on the day the inquifition was taken ;
it was in a ftate of high putrefaction, which prevented me
from judging the caufe of her death. The {calp was {epa-
rated from the fcull, which proceeded from the putrid ftate
of the body., _

Thomas Griffin fworn.=-1 am a corn-porter--was in the



‘5. MAYCOCK AND J. POPE.

employ of Mr. Burgels—know Maycock, but not Pope-

never {aw the houie of Mrs Pooley open till after the mur-
der was committed, Maycock and me were going to work
at Richmond two months before the murder of Mrs. Pooley.
May«<ock faid to me, ¢¢ I will put you in a good thing if you
wili go with me.”” I afked him what it was. Hefaid he knew -
an o'd lady, who was worth a good deal of money, andthathe

would do her out of it : fhe lived by herfelf that he and 1, and
a ftout young fellow, who worked for Mr.Burgefs, thould be of
the party. He faid it was a fhut up houfe, but did not{ay where
1t was. I declined being of the party myf{elf, and told my
brother of it a fortnight after....] faw Maycock on the Mon-
day after the murder, at the Bunch of Grapes public houfe :
he {aid to me, ¢ I have plenty of money to {pend, and thall
not work any more to-day.” He looked quite different
to what he ufed, and jumped about the tap room, got out
of the window, and behaved:n a ftrange and fingular man-
ner, as if under the influence of joy or horror; he was

not drunk. He ufed to earn upon an average two pounds
per week. ‘

“Foseph Cockburn fworn. —I am a cornlighterman—know
Maycock and Pope—they worked for Mr. Burgefs on the
Oth of Auguft as corn-porters. I paid the journeymen their
wages by a draft upon Davies, who keeps the Barley Mow.
I was there, and faw the prifoner Maycock come to work
at about {ix o’clock on Monday morning, but could not fay
when he left off, but he went away, and 1 did not {ee him
- till he was apprehended. They fometimes earn 10s. per
day, fometimes only 3s. juft as the work happens to be
brifk or flack.....I have known Pope feven months, he was
before a W arebargeman.....He came to work on the 11th of
Auguft after the murder.

Samuel Clarke fworn.—] am foreman of the gang of corn-
porters to which the prifoners belonged. 1 paid the gang
their wages by a draft I received from Cockburn. Maycock
was at the Barley Moew at about 7 or 8 o’clock on the even-
ing before the murder. I knew Pope in the country. Idid
not iee Maycock after Monday. |

Richard Martins fworn.....1 am a corn-porter....I belonged
to Clarke’s gang....worked for Mr. Burgefs...I know May-
cock and Pope....they both belonged to the gang, and were
paid at the Barley Mow....we went away about feven o’clock
on Saturday evening,

Thomas Davies fworn.—1 advanced the money to the
foremgn to pay the gang, who were paid at my houfe that
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evening. A perfon may get out of the back part of my
houfe into the back yard of Mrs. Pooley’s houfe. 1remems=
ber a rumour of Mrs. Pooley’s not having been feen; re-
member alfo Mr. Garrett coming through my houfe to get
mte the premifes of Mrs, Pooley, but did not myfelf go
with him. '
Mr. Graham fworn....I am a magiftrate at Bow-ftreet....
I examined the prifoner Pope, who afterwards figned the
examination. . I fhewed him the proclamation, but did not
hold out to him any profpect of pardon. He did not then
confefs, but I afterwards received a letter in the following
terms. |
‘“ T, John Pope, do humbly beg His Majefty’s pardon—
The murder was committed bv Maycock.
Witnefs, JOHN POPE.”
I received thisletter of confeflion from Limberick, a police
officer, who had it from the landlord of the Brown Bear
public-houfe, mn which Pope was confined, 1 did not fay
to him, while he was under examination, ‘¢ you had better
confefs.”” 1 afked him if he wrote that letter ; he faid he did.

Mr. Gurney, Counfel for the Prifoner faid, he thould be
able to prove that an offer was made to Pope, and that a
pardon and a bounty of £ 100 was offered to him to becoine
a witness againft Maycock. e was afked if he had feen
the proclamation, he faid he had, and therefore as he acted
under the influence of this reward or encouragcment of
mercy, he was entitled to the full benefit of the proclama-
tion, and could no Jonger remain prifoner for that offence,
as he had fully accomplifhed his promife to give all the
evidence 1n his knowledge.

This was oppofed by the Counfiel for the Profecution,
who thought that no perfon could be entitled to thmt benefit
who had been indited and arraigned as a party in the
muder.

Thelearned Judge was of a different opinion, and faid tha,
the prifoner was placed by his confeflion upon the fame foot-
ing as other perfons, and totally abfolved from punithment.

The Jury acquitted him accordingly, and admitted him
es evidence again{t Maycock. e

John Gray, fworn—1 keep a public houfe, Maycock and
his Wife lodged in my houfe in Auguft. Pope and May-
cock were very intimate; they were {eldom out of each
others company. Maycock was absent the whole of the

)



YCOCK, AND J. POPE, 1

Saturday on which the murder was committed, and returned
on Sunday evening :* Maycock’s Wife came to enguire for
her hufband. When Maycock? returned, I afked him where
he had been ? he {aid he had been on the water and had no-
thing to eat for near two days, I told him that his Wife had
been to enquire for him, and that fhe was very uneafy that
he did not come home. I underftood by a queftion 1 put to
him, that he had been in cempany with Pope, who came
home in a quarter of an hour afterwards, and went up into
Maycock’s lodgingss Maycock faid on the Monday, thatif
any per{on thould enquire for him to fay, that he was ill and
was going into the country. I faw the fame week a Tay-
lor bring home fome new clothes for Maycock.—Maycock
when he returned called for a half pint of peppermint, and
took it up ftairs to his lodgings.

Daniel Chaftern, fworn—1 am a Taylor, and have known
Maycock fome time, I faw him on the 11th of Aug. at the
Bell, Free School-ftreet, Hoyflevdown ; where I meafured
him for a new fuit of clothes, he atked me if 1 wanted any
money before the clothes were done—1I faid it would be ver}'
acceptable, he then gave me a couple of two pound notes, and
faid, he wanted the clothes by Saturday following. I went
to his lodging when they were done but he was not at home;
I then took them on the Sunday morning to the Elephant
and Caftle, when I faw the prifoner; he faid he was fhort
of money, but that his brother had got fome money, ot
- his, and that he would pay him out of that—his brother paid
me the balance of my bill, which was (5 gs. 6d. The pri-
foner went with me to a public houfe, he there afked if I
could recommend him a perfon to make him fome boots.

Peter Collins.....1 am a corn-porter; I know the prifoner,
Maycock ; he agreed with me for a watch, for which he was
to pay three guineas; this was before 1 heard of the death
of Mrs. Pooley. I received a half guinea from him then,
and his wife brought a two pound note, and left it with my
landlady.

John Pope—I have known Maycock a yearand a half.
Remember the murder of Mrs. Pooley ; he afked me to go
with him three weeks before it was dom; he {aid it was to rob
an old woman, in afhut-up-houfe. On the Oth of Auguft, he
faid, we muit do it that night—he was’ then working for
Mr., Burgess—I1 faw Maycock on that night at the Barley-
Mow, L was there from 8 o’clock till 10, dunking with him;
he then went into the ;yard of the Barley-Mow, and from
thence to the houfe of Mrs. Pooley, we took out {fome bricks,
near the fastening of the fhutter, and entered the heufe,
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From here we could not get any farther, as the door in the
pafiage was {trongly barred ; 1 was algrmed, and went back
twice; he perfuaded me to return, which I did, we then
waited in the cellar till 8 o’clock 1n the morning, when
Maycock went to the top of the ftairs, Mrs. Pooley then
camed ownjitairs and opened the door, when Maycock ruthed
out, At this time 1 heard Mrs. Pooley cry, Oh! When I

came up Maycock was upon her, he held her down abouta
quarter of an hour till the was quite dead. tlishand or arm
was on her throatall the while.. We then went up {tairs,
and fat fometime upon the bed ; we found, in the place,
about ninety pounds in cafh, a bottle of brandy, which we
drank, alfo piece of linen cloth which Maycock took.
We ftopped 1n the houfe till ten o’clock at night, we then
left it and went to the ruins in Tooley-ftreet. Maycock
went home and fent his wife for the bundle of linen. I faw
him afterwards on T'uefday.The money was equally divided.

The Prifoner, M avecock, was now informed by the CHiEF
Baron, that if he had any thing to fay in his defence, he
fhould now be heard. ; |

The Prifoner :...*“1 am, my Lord, quite innocent of the
charge.”’ : 3o |

The Cuier Barown faid, that the principal witnefs ftood
in the fituation of an accomplice, and 1t would be the duty
of the Jury not to admit his evidence to have weight on their
minds, farthcr than to the extent in which it was confirmed
by the teftimony of others. The witnefs admitted himfelf
to be as iniquitious as the prifoner. His Lordfhip then went
through the particulars of the evidence feriaifim : and the
Jury, after a thort deliberation, found the prifoner Gui/ty of
the murder of dnna Maria Pooley.

In pronouncing the uwful fentence of the law, his Lordfhip
faid, the experience of no man furnifhed an inftace of a mur-
der {o atrocious. Not the fmalleft apelogy could be made:
it was cold, deliberate murder, for the purpofe of plunder,
accompanied-with a degree of in{enfibility the moft remark-
able. He defired the prifoner not to deceive himfelf, as
there was not the leaft chance of his obtaining mercy.

The prifoner continued unmoved during the whole pro-
ceedings, unlefs, perhaps, exhibiting an increafe of andacity
as they approach their determination; and when he retired -
from the Bar, on the moment the Learned Judge pronounced
¢'"ie Lord have mercy on your foul’” he {aid, in a manner
fufhiciently audible to be heard by feveral perfons in Court—
v¢-1 thank you for that—1'm done [fnug enough’’ The de-
meaner of Pope alfo exhibited no remorfe,

/
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Mr. Lawes for the profecution ftated, as follQws Y=
Grentlemen of the Fury—Y ou will not have much dificulty
in bringing the charge which is prepared againit the Prifoner
home to himi ; the facts attending this cafe are of a very plain
and fimple nature. The Prifoner at the bar was a cook  on
board of a merchant veflel laying in the Thames. It appears, by
the evidence, that he, upon going down below, found fome dirt
in his hammock placed there by fome perfon ; he then began
charging the deceafed with having done it; and ufed very abu-
five language, faying, he would be revenged for it upon fome
one, if he was hanged for ite  "T'he deceafed told him to hqld his
noife, and not make fuch a riot as he wanted to go to {leep,
having a watch to keep that night. "T'his he refufed to do, and:
Williams got out of his hammock and went upon deck with
the Prifoner ; a noife was prefently heard as of people fighting,
~ a handfpike was heard to fall by, the witnefs Flecker, who went
upon deck, and faw the Prifoner get hold of the decealed round
the waiit, pulling him along the railing at the fide of the
thip, till he came to a part which was broken, he then
forced him violently overboard, faying, ¢ There, go, you
villain.” |
John Maxwell, [worn.—This witnefs belongs to the fhip
called the Cornplanter, laying in the T'hames, on the Surrey
coaft; he faid the prifoner was cook on board ‘l'hedeceafed
was in bed when the prifoner came down and abufed him ;
the deceafed told him to be quiet and let him go to {leep,
when he damned himn, and faid, he would not for any body-
The deceafed got up, and they wentupon deck. The witnefs
told the carpenter to keep them from fighting....Witnefs faw
the deceafed with the prifoner holding him round the waitt.
the deceafed had hold cf a rail, he dragged him along with
much violence to the broken part of the rail, when he threw
him overboard, between the two veflels ; before I {aw him
thrown overboard, he appeared to be in a ftate of infenfibi-
lity, as if he had received {ome {pvere blows. After the
B
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prifoner had thrown him overboard, he went down below
to hide himfelf, faying, they wanted to murder him.
Edward Flecker fworn—Said he was a failor on board the
Cornplanter. Saw the prifoner go down to the forecaftle, and
heard much quarrelling; went down and afked the prifoner what
wasthe matter ? he thewed him fome dirt which was in his ham-.
~ mock, faying you know very well what is the matter. Prifoner
“damfled Williams, and faid he would be revenged if he was
to be hanged for it ; witnefs heard a handfpike fall upon deck,

he went up and faw the prifoner laying hold of the deceafed,
faw him throw him overboard at an opening in the railing.

The prifoner then went down to call the fecond mate, faying
there are fome people who want to murder me. Witnefs faw
the body of the deceafed afterwards ; it then appeared covered
over with bruifes. | |
Richard Marfon, fworn—] am a fitherman, and being
informed that a perfon had gone overboard from the Corn-
~ planter, I f{earched for the body, and after fome time found
it; I took it to the Cherry Garden Stairs, and went on board
the thip, and informed the crew that the body was found.
~ Witnefs called feveral perfons who gave him a good cha-
racter, and faid he was of a mild difpofition. |

The Jury retired a quarter of an hour, and returned a verdi&t

of MANSLAUGHTER.
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' THE TRIAL OF
THOMAS GREENAWAY,

WILLIAM WHITE.

ALAILS

WEEPING BILLY,.

i
i

Mr. Morris opened the profecution with obferving, that
the-prifoner at the bar ftood charged on an indi¢tment with
the Wiiful Murder of Eryzapera WINTERFLOOD, other-
wife ANN WgBB, In _Higler’s-laﬁe, on the Morning of the
22d. of Auguft, 1806, and was followed on the fame fide by
Mr. GurRNEY, who, in a humane {peech, explained the nature
of the evidence he had to offer in {uppcrt of the cafe. The
Jury would have no poffitive evidence come before them re-
garding the prifoner at the bar, for fuch is feldom the cafe in a
charge of murder, where the aflaflin {eeks darknefs for the
concealment of his diabolical purpofe, and confequently offend-
eis of this defcription were generally brought to juftice by
ciscumitances which were the province of Juries to weigh,

The Learned Counfel warned the Jury againft entertaining
any prejudice that might have arifen in their minds at the
horrid cecd with which the prifoner {tood charged. It were
~Jaudable in a jury to confine themfelves within two bounds,
that of entertaining a Vvirtuous emotion againft the crime of
murder, and entertaining a warmth too humane: if they fuf-
fered their minds to be influenced, that evarmth beeame vicigus
and mifplaced. T he circumitances the learned counfel had to
ofter were the folowing: the prrioner had faid he flept on the
morning of the murdery, where he thould prove he had not flept,
and that he was {een about the time the murder bad been com.-
mitted near the [pot, and he then appeared confufed. This
Jatter circumitonce would be proved by two witnefles.  He had
alfo denied his real nanie, and that he knew the deceafed. The
Jearned counfel concluded by recommending the jury to weigh
well the facts he fhould adduce in evidence, and at the fame
~ time, tocarry in their minds, that the life of the prifoner de-
‘pended on their verd:{t. | |
T he evidences for the profecution were then called.

Fobu Lodman Jwern—] was employed as watchman ig



14 THE TRIAL OF .

H:glcr s-lane ; onthe night of the murder I went on duty at
ten o’clock.—Mr. Gibbs lives in Belvidere-row, I obferved a
‘¢art, on that night, ﬁandmg tilted up near the prum{'..s of
Mr. Gibbs, his people where then loading a waggon which
‘was about to go into the country. I f{aw a man ftanding near

the waggon, looking at the men who were loadnlg 1t lfpcm:e -

to him, afked him, what he wanted there ! He made me no
anfwer, but went up Higler’s-lane towards Blackfriar’s-
road, 1 followed him and {poke to him again, but he made
me 1o anf{wer I obferved his perfon, but cannot fay pofitively
he is the man. 1 cawe back again, paffed the premifes of Mr
Gibbs, and faw a woman laying with her head towards Mr.

(ibbs’s dOGI’, and partly laying upon the ftep of it her chin
was funk into her bofom, fhe lay fully extended, her cloaths
were rolled up in fuch a manner as fully to expofe the whole
of her body, her legs were extended a full yard apart—Mr.
Gibbs called me at the time—I thonght fhe had been in liquor,
and was then fpeaking to her, but the gave me no aniwer,
When Mr. Gibbs came down we attempted to ratfe her up,

but her head fell down, and we {aw {he Was dead. I examined
about the place, and found, in a cart, a woman’s hair-comb,
and a handkerchtef, which had been cut througn in four difterent
- places, there was 2 knot in it, and appeared as if it had been
cat double. I delivered this: handkerchief to m¥% wife, who
gave it to the conftable and he took it to the Committee Room.
In fearching about. [ found likewife a bonnet in the cart which
was tilted up, and near it a picce of fleth ; I gave all thefe
to my wife, who kept them till they were taken to the Com-
mittee-Room, of the Parifh of St. Geor ge’s.

_‘}’abn Gibbsy fworn—1 live in ngglcr s-lane, and am a de:a-
ler in Charcoal; 1 remember on the night of the 2ist of
~Auguft, one of my Waggons was sent off at half-paft one
o’clock. When it was gone I went tobed; but at abouta
quarter of an hour after three o’clock, I was difturbed by the
barkiog of by dogs; 1 got out of bed, and looked out of win-
dow, and when the watchman was calling three o’clock, I
went down and faw a woman layiag upon her back, 1 did not
at firft look in her face, but faw her cloathes folded up; the

watchman then atreipted to pull her up, and 1 faw by his
Tight ber face was covered on one fide with blood. which ap-
peared to have run from hier nofe, we fearched and found fome
traces of blood at about thirty yards diftance, at the door of
Mr. Toulman, and feveral drops leading to my door; there
“was.a few drops and fome moifture Wthh came from her
“mouth upon the ﬁep of my door alfo. -

\
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Rees Price, Surzoon, fworn—He depo‘ed that he is a furgeon
living in Black-fryars-road, that he faw the defeafed about
half an bour aficr three o’clock in the morning of the 22nd
of Auguil, that fh: muft have been dead for fome confiderable
time as he could {carcely feel any ‘warmth-at all ;- that at his
looking at the flefhy fubftance found under the cart, he per-
ceived that it had the appearance of the /abia pudenda of a fe-
male, and on examining the external genitals of the deceafed,
e found that the /gbiq pudenda on the right {ide had been en-
tirely cut away, and that this fubftance correfponded with the
part from whence it had been taken; it had been removed with
a cuttng mfitrument. but both cut furfaces had evident marks
of laceration, as tho” much force had been alfo ufed. He had
examined the handkerchief found in the cart, it had been de-
vided in feveral places with a catting inflrnment, but one part
of it hadbeen tied in a hard knot in a {mall circle or noofe, and
that part of the circle oppofite the knot had been cut afunder.

-~ From the fmallnefs of this circle he conceived that it miuft have

been drawn very tight to have reached round the'throat of the
dcceafed, which he ‘was of opinion it had been, and was the
occafion of her death.  In confirmation of this opinion he ob-
ferved, that there were black contufed marks round her throat,
but her face appeared very full and {welled, which immedi-
tely led him to be of opinion that the deceafed had died of
fome caufe where there had been an obftruétion to the circu-
ation of blood through tlje head, fhe had slfo bled from her
nofe and mouth, he tound no other marks of violence about
her'; ‘the deceafed had been re:ﬁHt’gd’ta St.'George’s Work-
houfe, where he went in the day time, to further examine the
. body, and found Mr. Phillips the {u rgeon who atte..ds there
. on the parifh account, they opened the body of the decealcd,
but after the moft ninure c¢xamination, toth by Mr,
Phillips and himfelf, they could not difcover any thing inter-
nally which could have occafioned her death, ev.ry part ap-
pearing perfectly healthy. 1o a queftion pur by the jidge,
he faid, that by weighing every circumitance of the cafe, it
was {ufhcient 10 convince him in opinion, that the death of .
the deccaled was occalioned by {uch vreffure around herthroat
as to obitruct the breath and circulation of the blood, or in
other words caufe {trangularion, P

Francis Good, jworn. | faw the body of the deceafed, Ann
Webb, between the hours of feven and eight o’clock, and
I'kewife {aw {ome traces of hlokod‘ from JVir. 'lﬁoul-t.an’s door.

Mary Horner-fworn. |1 live.at No. §, Brlvtzdere-mw, Fosia
doors from Mr. Gibb’s. Ou Friday moriing, betweca one
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and two o'clock; I left my houfe to gb to a neighbour’s for
fome vinegar. As | went along Belvedere-iow, on the right
of my houfe, | faw a girl in the pathway, fitting with her
left hand in her lap, and her night hanging down. When |
had been on the errand for which I went, I returned, and
found her titting in the fame polture; her head leaning upon
her bofom. 1 then went towards my heme, aud {aw a man,
who feemed to me as it he was afcending from the ground ;
he was raifing himfelf up by the railing ; 1 was in the nfide of
the rail, and he was on the outfide. I at firft thought he was
the watchman—1 went in doors to my own ‘houfe, but {oon
came out agamn,and faid to him are you the watchman ? he
replied, “‘no damn your eyes, | want a watchmun” ! 1 turned
round and looked bim full in the face, the exclamation alarmed
me, I fhut my door, I had feen enough of him to be certain
as to the identity of his perfon, my candle {tood in fueh a
manner that the light fell full upon his face, I am pofitive he
is the man, | was much alarmed at hin, his voice frightened
me. | {aw the body of the deceafed afterwards, but only at a
diftance ; fhe was drefled in a light drefs, which appeared all
of one colour. The prifoner was drefled in a dark coat : his

“hat, which was a thabby one, | oblerved was turned up a lit-

tle. 1f{aw him, | think, the latter end of O¢tober in the pri-
“fon. 1 was ina room, and did not fee his perfon, but direCtly

I heard his voice, I knew him to be the man. It was the
{ame voice 1 heard before on the night of the murder. After

1 came out of the room, and faw the features of his face, 1
was convinced he was the fame, and | have no fhadow, of
doubt that he is the man. In the prilon, he had been placed
to converfe with Hopwood, on purpofe to give me an oppor-
tunity of hearing his voice,  wbich 1 immediately knew again. .

er/fr-f.ramfned :

. How far was he from thz door of your houfe?

. Quly a'little way. I faw him plainly ; there was afull
Jizht in his face ;3 but I do not remember whether it was a dark
or a light night. My firft alarm did not arife from feeing the
prifoner, but from my hufband’s indifpoiition, The lamp in
the ftreet was not the caufe of my fecing the prifoner. '['he
docealed was fitting at Mr. Tucker’s door, which is the third
door from mine. [he murder was much talked of, but I did
not know that a reward was offered for the difcovery of the
offenders. 1 had feen the bills pofted, and read them. I did
not tell my f{ufpicion till fix or feven weeks afterwards, when
i mentioned it to my hufband, but he being a paflionate man
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paid little attention to it. I afterwards told my {ufpiciors to
Captain Howard.  There were feveral bills ftuck up. againit
the King’s Bcnch wall, [ believe the reward oiferea was one |
hundred pounds. "I never faid it was a windy night when the
murder was committed—the morning foliowing the parlour
windows were fhut to by the wind. _

Richard Clark fworn.—1 am a carrier, and live in America-
place, Borough. I fupped at Newington, and after fupper left

my friends houfe at half paft one o’clock on Friday morning—" '

I came along ‘Blackman-Street, in the Borough, and when 1
came to -the end of Suffolk-Street, 2 man came out of that
{fireet into Blackman-Street; he had a bundle under his arm—
I obferved he feemed violently agitated and trembled very much
—I looked at him attentively, he was {tanding again the pre-
mifes of Mr. Smith, Broker, the corner of Suffolk-Streets It
was alight morning—1 looked at him all over—I pafled very
clofe to him—l went on home, and direCtly heard the clock
ftrike two. He had on a dark lapelled coat, a flouched hat
bent over his face, and I think he had pantaloons on. - When
I went to the houfe of correction in the December following
for the purpofe of recognizing the prifoner, I faw feveral’
prifoners together come out=—l expected to fee one perfon
among them in chains, but none of them were in irons—
I faw the prifoner and immediately knew him to be the man
whom I had feen on the night of the murder ; he was drefled
different to what he was when I firft faw him, but I had a full
recolle&tion of him, and pointed him out as the man—no per-
fon pointed him out to me, 1 fixed upon him myfelf; - when I
faw him in Blackman-Street, on the night of the murder, he
was not {taggering as a perfon in liquor, but trembled all over
like a perfon exceflive cold, though I had been fpendinz the
evening among friends, yet I was: perfectly fober and col-
lected. | | |
- Ann Brian fworn—Lived in Mansfield-Street, at the time
of the murder—I1 knew Ann Webb very well, fhe lodged with
me for fome time—1 know the prifoner; he ufually went by the -
name of White, he was very intimate with the deceafed—I have
feen him in her company very. frcquently-—-l remember his
coming one Saturday evening to fee- her, and brought fome -
other man with him ; they ftopped three or four hours, fent for
fome liquos, and while they where there I heard fome very
high words uled on both fides, and many very improper ex-
< preflions made ufe of.  T'he deceafed did not tell me the caufe
- of thefe words—the prifoner went away—I faw her again on
the evening of the murder at about 10 o’clock in my own houle
> J
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—] did not fee her afterwards; but I faw the body at the
workhoufe on the Saturday after the murder—I likewife faw a
handkerchief which was foloied with blood, I knew it belonged
to the deceafed, it was cut through in feveral places—I am cer -
tain it belonged to her. ~ -

- Emily Huntington fworn.—I knew the deceafed, Ann Webb.
I had known her eight or nine months—I lodged at the next
door to the houfe in which fhe lived—1 faw her at one o’clock
on the Thurfday night, a fhort time before fhe was murdered—

fhe was leaning on the pofts in the Borough Road, near the
Obelifk ; fhe thewed me fome money fhe had in her hand, there

where two half guineas and fome filver—1I afked her to come

home, but fhe faid the would not; 1 told her it was paft one
o’clock, and again requefted her to cosne home, but fhe fiill

perfifted in her refufal. From the diftance fhe then was from

the place where fhe was found dead it would- have taken her at

leaft a quarter of an hour to walk to that place.

Barnard Ifaacs fworn —I am a dealer in old cloathes—I
know the perfon of the prifoner ; faw him about the 14th of
September, when he came to me to buy a hat—I told him I
. could not fell him any as it was one of our holidays ; he look-
ed round the fhop, and feeing fome ftockings hang up, he faid
he wanted to buy fome ; he took themand faid, he would pay
me for them fome other time; at another time he {aw one of
my old hats hanging up; he faid he was going to fee a fifter,
and as his hat was {o fhabby he wanted me to fell him mine,
but this I refufed, he then faid if I would not fell it, would I
lend it to him; he took off his own hat and hung it upona’
peg, and took mine, his hat was a fthabby old greafey one, with
a brokeu rim—1 afterwards gave his hat to the police officers,
and went with him to fee if the prifoner was the perfon to
whom it belonged, I faw him and am certain he was the man.

William Hopwood fworn, =1 am a Bow-Street officer, 1 got

the hat of Barnard Ifaacs, and apprehended the prifenar on the
" 28th day of September—I found in his pocket a razor, I afked
him what was his name, he at firft faid his name was Green,
but afterwards faid 1t was White,

Crofs examined.—~1 have nezer had any converfation with a
{oldier of the name of Wright, refpelting the evidence he was -
to give; nor have I had any converfation with the witnefs
Mrs. Horner, concerning the hat—I never faid to the folder,
¢¢ you muft ftick to that or we fhall be done—never faid if' you

~ do not, we fhall be thrown over the bridge.”’ -

M. Stafford fworn.—Chief clerk of the police office Bow-
Street, 1 know the neighbourhood of Higgler’s-Lane, and
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think the fign of the Duke of Clarence Head at the Obelifk,
is about a quarter of a mile from the place where the body of
the deceafed was found—I remember the prifoner being brought
to the office, and {faw him make his mark to the written exa-
mination which was thewn him. 1 did not hear any induce-
ment held out to the prifoner to confefs ; the examination was
read to him before he figned it; he faid in his firft examination,

that he flept at the White Horfe, Kennington Wath-Way,
and that Hawkins {lept with him; on the fecond examination
he {aid he did not fleep there, but on fome fhavings in the new
buildings in Blackfriars-Road—he faid he did not know the
deceafed, and did not keep company with her. |

Mprs. Bakewell, fworn. 1 keep the fign of the White-Horfe,
at Kennington-Wafthway, the prifoner lodged with me for fome
time. I faw him on the Monday night ; 1 let him in at twelve
o’clock, do not know if he flept there on Tuefday night—on
Wednefday we quarrelled about a duck, which he had thrown a
deal board upon, and killed it.—I told him he thould not fleep

any longer in my houfe, and I locked him out ; when the door
is locked, I'do not think that any perfon could go up ftairs.

Hawkins {lept in one of the beds; I locked thedoor to keep him
- from fleeping in my houfe on Wednefday and Thurf{day, buton
the kriday, 1 did not lock it, becanfe 1 did not think he would
have attempted to come ;—he did not work with us any longer
than the Saturday.—If he had come to my houfe to {leep, noone
could have let him in, for ['kept the key in my pocket, and no
perfon could have got it outto let him in.

Sarah Homewood, fworn.— 1 am fervant to Mrs. Bakewell,
and know the prifoner, and am certain he did not {fleep in our
houfe on the Wednefuiay, nor on the T'hurfday night. Haw-
kins ufed to fleep in the fame room; the ftreet door was locked
by my miftrefs, who kept the key in her pocket. I faw the beds
~on Thur{day and Friday morning, and I am certain that only one
of the beds bad been {lept in; the bed which had been flept in,
~ did not look as if two' perfons had been 1n it; but on Saturday
they had both been flept in. The prifoner had been difcharged
on the Wednelday before; in confequence of his having killed a
duck belonging to my miftrefs. |

FJames Hawkins, fworn.—] am a carpenter, and in Auguft,
1806, lodged at the White Horfe, kept by Mrs. Bakewell, I
remember her having words with the prifoner about a duck
which he killed ; it was in the week of Camberwell-fair, on the
Wednefcay 1n that week in which the murder was committed.
I flept at the White-Horfe alone, and 1 am certain the prifoner
did not; I did not expet him to fleep there, as I heard Mrs

s £ a \
«
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Bakewell order him out of her houfe. He did not {leep there on
the next night, Thurfday. 1 heard of the murder on Friday
morning, and I amn pofitive he did not fleep there on the mght
it was committed; he came to work on the Friday morning, at
8 o’clock, and {lept there on the fame night. I advifed him to
go geutly up ftairs. and, perhaps, M:s Bakewell would not
obferve him, He told me he had no money to pay for alodg-
ing, and I affifted him that he might elude the notice of Mrs.
Bakewell. On the Friday night we flept in different beds.—
I never flept with him but once in my life, which was about a
week before. 1 did not come down ftairs, nor ufe any endea-
vours to get him in on the Wednefday nor Thurfday night.—

I fupped in the tap-room of the White Horfe on the Friday
nigh', and went to bed about an hour after him, he was dii-

charged on the Saturday afternoon from working there. |
Fofeph Wiight., 1 am aprivate in the Weft-London Militia,
I know the prifoner, he flept with me on the Sunday night before
the murder. I was in his company a fhort time before the ac-
cident. . I know he ufed to cairy a razor in his pocket, with
which he once fhaved me. Ifaw him at the Circus, there was
~a mob, and among them there was a young woman, who faid
to him ¢ it was you who murdered Ann Webb.”” 1 then faid
it was proper he fhould be taken into cuftody, he then endea-
voured to ftrike the young woman who accufed him of the mur-
der, but the people interpofed and preventedhim; the mob foon

after difperfed, and he went one way and fhe another ; he was
foon after taken into cuftody.

Sarah Frances Hawkes [worn.~—1 know the prifoner and have
known him two years, he always went by the name of W hite.
- I likewife knew the deceafed Ann Webb, 1 have often {cen
them in company with each other, they feemed perfectly
acquainted, I faw him at the wine vaults near the Circus, I then
had fome converfation with the prifoner, about the murder of
Ann Webb, he atked me to drink with him, but I refufed, and
- tald him if he had any thing to give away, he fhould give it to
tw'e he liked belt. I told him he had very much ill treated
Webb, I knew him by the name of Green or Greenaway,l gave
infermatjon of my fufpicion concerning hisbeing the perfon who
committed the murder, in about two months after,

!

9. Didyounot know of an hundred pounds reward fof this
- affair? ' '

4. 1 lived near the fpot, but did not know that there was a re-

ward for the murderer. I faw the bills ftuck up, but I cannot
-read.’ o -

Ann Owral, Jworn.~1 know the prifoner, and have know

&
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him about eight or nine months, 1 have heard him fay he knew
Ann Webb as well as he knew me, this was about a fortnight
after the murder, I always knew him by the name of Green,
while we were acquainted, I once took his coataway, toa pawn-
broker’s, and they found a razor in his pocket.

9. Why did you take the coat to the pawn-broker’s?

1 took away his coat, becaufle he had flept with me the night
before, without any money inhis pockets | e

Sarah Dawfon fworn.—| have known the prifoner fome time;
but not long, 1 knew he cohabited with the deceafed, Ann
Webb. I heard of the murder on the Friday morning. 1 was
at the Circus on the day before, and faw the prifoner fitting upon
the rails at a wine vaults ; near that place, giving the woman
liquor to drink. I faw him about a month after witha young
woman ; we went to get fomething to drink, A little time after
I met him again, I then faid to him, ¢ Mr, Green, you do not
look well;”” he anfwered me, ‘¢ No, I have been ill;and my mind
has been much troubled fince I faw you laft.”” I afked him if he
had been robbing or murdering any body? he anfwered * no;
do you think I would be guilty of fuch a thing? God forbid,’” he -
i;lee_m;d angry at my queftion, but afked me to have {fomething to

rink.

Here clofed the evidence for the profecution.

The cafe for the profecution being ended, Teftic, an officer
to the fheriff of Middlefex,{tated, that he had, during the trial,
overheard Hopwood the patrole inftructing the witnefs for the
profecution in a particular way, and whifpcring to Mary Hor-
‘ner. what to fay; and he had heard this witnefs relate how fhe
had been handled by a bothering counfel, but they could get
-nothing out of her ; Hopwood told her not to mind, and to take-
care how fhe came on the next time the went in again, obferv-
ing that unlefs he took care what he was about, they thould be
all done. Another officer named Hindfon, ftated alfo that he
had feen this patrole Hopwood inftructing this Mary Horner in
cafe fhe fhould be called to the court again, when fhe was heard
to fay, they fhould get nothing out of her. "L'hele officers
both {tated they felt ittheir duty to come forward with this tes-
timony, as belonging to the court. " .

~L'he prifoner then being called on for his defence, protefted -
his innocence, and fome witnefles gave him a good charaéer.

The Learned Judge fummed up the evidence in a clear and
comprehenfive manner, and charged the Jury to pay particu-
Jar regard in the following particulars: He obferved, that this
“was a cale which required the greateft attention, for a midnight

Murder cannot be expected to have eye witneflcs ; this feldom



29 . THE TRIAL GF

or ever occurs, but there is a long chain of circumftantial and
corroborative evidence to prove the fact, and bring it home to
the prifoner. With refpect to the identity of his perfon, Mrs,
Horner’s evidence is of the moft importance, as the fays, fthe
‘is pofitive that the pri{foner at the bar is the perfon fhe faw on
the night of the murder : yet, though her evidence appears
thus material, it muft be taken with great caution, as fhe has
been difcovered in improper converfation with fome of the wit-
nefles, and it appears by her conduct, that fhe is a perfon of a
fanguine temper. Moft of the female witnefles are perfons of
indifferent charaéters. You wiil alfo obferve the manner in
which the clothes of the deceafed were turned up, which proves
that the murder muft have been done deliberately, and muft
have taken {fome time, in order to expofe her in the manner de-
fcribed to you by feveral of the witnefles. With refpeét to
Mrs. Horner, the has been guilty of feveral inadvertencies
during her examination, which inadvertencies render her tefti-
mony doubtful : and, as I before obferved, fhe feems to be of
a very fanguine temper, and to take inore intereft in the rrial
than an ordinary witnefs perhaps fhould do. It will be alio
for you to confider whether Mrs. Horner, being in fuch an
alarmed {tate of mind, when fhe faw the perfon f{tanding near
her houfe, and leeing him only by the ight of a candie, might
not be miftaken as to the perion the faw, being the prifoner at
the bar, and the fame perfon that Mr. Clark faw. You will
obferve, that the perfon Mr. Clark faw, was {een abeut a quarter
before two o'clock, and Mrs. Horner faw him about half an
hour after one'o’clock, fo that he had about a quarter of.an hour
to walk to the place where Mr. Clark {aw him; the circum-
{ftances againit the prifoner arifes principally from the contra-
di¢tion in the account he gave of himfelf ar his.examination be-
fore Mr. Graham. In his firft examination, he faid that he
flept at his lodgings, at the White horfe public-houfe on Thuri-
- day night ; and-in the fecond examination, he faid that he flept
on {ome fhavings, in fome new buildings, in Blackfriar’s-road.
Oa Thurfday night, he faid he flept with-Hawkins ; but Haw-
kins {ays no perfon {lept with him, there were two beds in the
room.

The fervant of Mr. Bakewell fays there was only one bed
ufed that night. lt 1s worthy remark, that Mrs. Horner, not=
withftanding what fhe had feen, did not fay any thing about
the matter, to any perfon, for feveral weeks aftery; and then
only to Mr. Hopwood. With refpect to the prifoner, you
muft. confider the falfe account he gave of himfelf, and of his
denying that he went by the name of White. That he did
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not know Ann Webb, and then with refpet to the razor,
this i1s 2 remarkable circum{tance, he has been known to cairy
{uch a'thing about him and to ufe it. It will on the other hand
be conlidered that {everal perfons have come forward to prove
that he is of a very mild temper, more fo than men generally
are ; and one fays, that he never faw himin a paffion in his
life. 'When you confider thefe things, and that he could have
no evident caufe to commit fuch an alt, you will give the
prifoner all the benefit of them. It is certainly very neceflary
that he fhould prove that he {lept in his lodging on the morning
in which the murder was committed, but he has not proved
where he was at that time; therefore, gentlemen, taking all
thefe circumflances together, you will decide whether the
prifoner is guilty or whether he is not. If you cannot get
over the difficulty of Mrs. Horner’s evidence, and his being
abfent from his lodgings on the night of the murder, if you
have any reafonable doubt in your own minds, you will cer-
tainly acquit the prifoner. e

The jury deliberated for fome time, and delivered a verdict
of NOT GUILTY. '

‘The prifoner, on being taken from the dock, thanked the
judge and jury, and obferved that he was an injured man.
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